Editorial:

A SEMINAR WITH DIFFERENCE

Seminars are regularly being conducted on different issues, but a seminar questioning media role in the state of J&K is like touching the hornets nest. Showing its commitment to take up controversial issues, which others hesitate to do or incapable of doing it, the JKCCS organized the seminar “Kashmir in Media Perception” on the fifth death anniversary of Asia Jeelani. The seminar succeeded to initiate a debate, within the civil society, about the role of media in the state. 

The participation of the journalists made the seminar very livelier. During the seminar, the professional rivalry among them was much more evident than the division on ideological terms. Accusations and counter-accusations, for being the collaborators and working for the state, bought them to loggerheads. During question-answer session most of the journalists felt defensive and have to render the explanations, which they were not used to. For the first time, practicing journalists started questioning each other’s professional ethics for the first time.

Media manufactures public opinion and in the armed conflict, like that of the state, the perceptions are more important than the reality. This provides ground to the state and non-state actors, who are competing to control the media. Since the eruption of armed conflict in Jammu and Kashmir, Media organs have “mysteriously” proliferated. In Kashmir it has never been put under searchlight, as nobody wants to annoy them. It is being wooed and placated equally by political parties (mainstream and separatist), governments, business interest groups and to a certain extent by the NGOised civil society. 

We have many examples where even wars have been fought and won with the media being at the forefront.  There have been few studies like that of Teresa Joseph (Kashmir, Human Right and Indian Press) and recently “The Kashmir Jigsaw” by Sevanti Ninan revealing the modus vivendi of the media and news agencies. In the same nerve the article of Makdoom Babar – “How Indian’s RAW Manipulates, Funds Media”, is highly disturbing even after assuming it to be exaggerated. The common perception is that 95 percent media has been appropriated by the state, in the similar manner way as that of other non-governmental institutions, rendering a minuscule section of credible journalists to frustration. Keeping in view the importance of the media, instead of gagging and inviting condemnation for suppressing the press, the state has covertly raised a parallel media outnumbering the traditional vernacular ones. Even former militants / renegades received accreditation by Information Department plus resources. 

Truth has become the causality because government sponsored print and electronic media has no credibility and the Indian mainstream or corporate media have exposed themselves as chauvinist and jingoist, which has been acknowledged by the international community. This scenario has only left us with perceptions which do matter. 

With few exceptions, the unethical and unprofessional behaviour of Indian media is doing disservice to its people by misinforming and disinforming truth about Kashmir. On one hand they have deprived the Indian readers to build realistic opinion/decisions about conflict resolution of Kashmir and on the other hand “alienate” the Kashmiri people. This has resulted in the loss of credibility of the press, which has been and is a vital part of civil society. The journalists who were received warmly at the beginning of the conflict are increasingly facing hostility from the people because they are being perceived as a part of a propaganda model rather than that of credible fourth estate of society. Kashmiri people even made a serious move to boycott some of the Indian journalists declaring them persona non granta because they seem to be suffering from Varghese syndrome. 

Not only Indian media even the credibility of local is also under question. During present time an immediate need to scan its resources needs is being felt because it was never treated as holy cow. A study needs to be done about the local media, which worked under tremendous pressures at the beginning of the conflict but are now reaping the dividends of compromise. A beginning can be made by the civil society in the form of a white paper about local media. As in the case of other conflict areas, developing and expanding the alternative media can turn out to be a serious response. Alternate media can counter traditional media which has minimized itself role just to defend the established political, economical and social order through diverse effective mean such as propaganda, disinformation and censorship. 

Alternate media can provide objective information through printed publications and online platforms with different or dissident viewpoint. We can equate its reach and resources with that of traditional media but we should remember that ‘grown up’ underground ‘press’ comes out in small quantities. It is not profitable and not meant to establish state but its efficacy has never been under question. Though, it is a challenging task but keeping in view the recent technological advancement in the communications particularly the blogging and other ways, we can make a humble beginning. It may take time but fair reportage and dissemination of the actual facts, which others cannot, will guarantee success. You have to be innovative.   

YOUTH TAKEN FOR QUESTIONING DISAPPEARS
Chegilpora, Chattergul, a far off hamlet of district Anantnag of south Kashmir, to visit this hamlet one has to go through many army check posts. The area is literally under military siege. The army is omnipresent and the fear is palpable. The media and human rights organization have little access to this village. In the month of April, a reporter of The Informative Missive visited the area and came across the family of Mohammad Qasim Khan, 25, son of Satar-ud-Din Khan who disappeared in 2003. Qasim was picked up by the troops of 7 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) camped at Pachalthan, Shangus and since then his whereabouts are not known. 

The victim’s family repeatedly pleaded with the army for his release and filed a complaint at the Watroosa police station but the police showed complete indifference. 

The reporter of The Informative Missive talked to Sharifa Begam, 68, Qasim’s mother about the incident. 

“We are living in constant fear and life here is controlled by the troops” Sharifa said.

While narrating her son’s tale, she said, “I don’t remember the exact date, it was the year 2003, a contingent of 7 RR led by Major Pikel from Pachalthan camp came to our house in broad day light. My son was busy in the farming land outside our house. Major Pikel called my son and told him to accompany them to answer a few queries. At that time this was a routine in our area— the youth had to present themselves in the camp in order to keep the troopers updated about their activities once or twice a week. I resisted Major Pikel about taking my son, but he assured of his immediate release in front of neighbourers and village head (Nambardhar), Liyakat Ali and Chowkidhar, with this they took him along.”

According to victim’s mother, when Qasim wasn’t released till late night, perturbed, next morning she rushed to 7 RR camp and pleaded for her son’s release. There she had been told Qasim would be set free next day after further questioning. The poor mother had to manage all the family affairs herself, since her husband had already passed away and her younger son was a minor then. 

Sharifa added, “When army didn’t release my son, I approached police station Watroosa and lodged a report in connection of my son’s arrest by Major Pikel. I apprised police that Pikel picked up my son for questioning and did not release him despite assurances. The police authorities assured me that they would look into the matter and get my son freed, but they failed me. After police ignored my pleas, I repeatedly visit the army camp but they paid no heed. On my every visit, the troopers kept on giving excuses that they would release my son in the evening, by tomorrow, day-after-tomorrow and after few days. With these excuses they devoured him.”

After few weeks of Qasim’s arrest, the village head also visited army camp and requested the Major Pikel to release him, but to his surprise he was told by the Major that he escaped from his custody. 

“After army’s false claim, I sought police help and intervention into the matter since the army denied my son’s presence in their camp. Rubbing salt to my injuries, the police told me they don’t know anything about my son’s arrest. I remind them of the report, I lodged in the police station but they feigned ignorance and said, the then police in-charge of the police station has been transferred to some other place. Neither police helped nor army released my son. I searched all places which I could access but to no avail. No one helped me to get my son released and nothing divulged out,” a visible dishearten mother said. 

The victim’s mother was sure about his son’s innocence, “My son was never involved in any criminal or unlawful activity. Neither was he associated to militancy nor to any political organization. I fear that Qasim might have been tortured to death in custody or killed in fake encounter by the army to acquire awards and rewards.” 

The locals of the area while corroborating Sharifa’s statement told to The Informative Missive, “Qasim was not associated with any militant or political organization. We never saw him doing anything embarrassing. He was married just three months before his arreste and later his wife opted to remarry and left Qasim’s mother alone. His arrest shook the entire area and pushed his family into the state of penury. The family has no source of income left since Qasim disappeared.”

ARMY PORTER TORTURED, THROWN FROM HILLOCK BY SOG

On June 7-2008, twenty-four-year-old, Abdul Latief Malik, s/o Ghulam Mustafa r/o Dehroot, Prem Nagar of district Doda of Jammu province was allegedly killed by the Special Task Force (STF) in custody. Police claimed that Latief committed suicide. A Magisterial enquiry was ordered by District Magistrate, Doda which was conducted by Addl. Magistrate Doda. A case is pending before State Human Rights Commission. 

Abdul Latief, a porter with army was called by the SP operations Doda, Manohar Singh on June 7-2008. Manohar Singh sent three SPOs to his home to get him and subsequently he was killed. 

Father of the victim, Ghulam Mustafa traveled a long distance to reach to the office of The Informative Missive to relate the incident and sought legal assistance for the petition he had filed before SHRC. 

While talking to The Informative Missive Mustafa, 65, said, “My son was innocent. We are yet to understand, why he was killed. He was working with army, as a porter for nine years. He showed no inclination towards militancy throughout his life neither he had any political connection. His engagements were only his work and family.”

Latief’s father while recalling the fateful day said, “On June 7, 2008, at 8:00 am, Latief was busy loading rise on ponies for delivery. Meanwhile, SPO Showkat Ali along with two other SPOs from Police Picket Panchal came and asked Latief to assist them, as SP has to ask him something. Fearing about his welfare, I went along. On reaching SP’s office, I was stopped by the guards on duty from entering inside SP’s office. They assured they will take care of Latief and he was taken away. Perturbed, I rushed to then MLA, Abdul Majeed Wani and former Minister of State for Home, Khalid Najeeb Suharwardy for their intervention. Both called up the SP’s office and asked about Latief’s arrest. Both were assured of his release by 2 O’clock. Meanwhile, the army unit with which he was working was contacted for intervention. But the army failed to prevail upon the police but acknowledge his association as porter with them. For 9 years he served different army units. The wait of his release ends in a shock, when my family was informed by the police about his death. I was away from home looking for the ways, how to secure his release. Before I reached home en route I spotted a huge assemble of people raising slogans. Some among them rushed towards me to inform that Latief was killed in custody. I was shell-shocked and it took me a while to regain my senses back”.

 “Latief’s custodial torture was witnessed by one Abdul Latief Natnoo son of Haider Natnoo of Nagri Doda, who was also called by the SP office. After the torture my son was taken to paddy fields few meters behind my house, where he was killed. His head was badly injured which caused his death. He was dragged to the spot, which resulted into severe scratches on his shoulders and subsequently, thrown from a hill-lock. In the evening around 8:00 pm police handed over his dead body for last rites. Latief is survived by two minors, a daughter, son and wife. The post mortem examination showed the cause of death was of grave head injuries.” 

Latief’s killing evoked widespread protests in the area. People in large number thronged to the streets demanded stern action against the culpable. Asim Hasim, a well-known lawyer of Doda, who was also the part of the protest, asked the victim’s family to file First Information Report (FIR). Latief’s father approached Doda police station and lodged FIR No. 69/2008 U/S 302 RPC. A special investigation team headed by Dy. SP Doda was constituted to look into the matter. 

The IGP Jammu while responding to the complaint filed by Latief’s widow Mst. Shaheen in a letter Ref. No. ZPHQ Jammu letter no. CB/SHRC/D/2008 dated 24.09.2008 has stated that “during the course of investigation, it revealed that SP office Doda after questioning / enquiry, asked/directed SI Reindeer Kumar of DPL Doda to take necessary action into the matter, as the said suspect had admitted his involvement in subversive activities. He had also admitted that one militant Mohammad Iqbal Malik alias Haq Nawaz of Tantna gave him two IEDs for subversive purposes and causing loss to security forces and civilians. Both the IEDs were kept in bushes by him near his house at Dehrote.    

The said militant Mohammad Iqbal Malik was killed in an encounter with VDC members at Basti Kishtwar and IEDs remained in possession of said suspect Abdul Latief. On this SI Rajinder Kumar No.36/PAU along with personnel of CRPF and HC Jaswant Singh No.522/D of P/S Doda and photographer of crime branch Doda took said suspect Latief along for recovery at Dehrote and on reaching near his house at Dehrote he escaped from police custody and jumped from hill-lock and fell down about 300 meters deep and was injured seriously and while shifting to District Hospital Doda, he succumbed to his injuries on way. On this SI Rajinder Kumar sent a docket to P/S Doda and accordingly case FIR No.68/2008 U/S 309 RPC was registered at P/S Doda. The postmortem of the deceased was conducted and dead body was handed over to its legal heirs for last rites. In the said incident magisterial enquiry was ordered by District Magistrate, Doda to be conducted by Addl. Magistrate Doda.


After conducting Magisterial enquiry, enquiry officer has recommended that the circumstantial evidences, statements, the constituents of escort party and the way Abdul Latief was being escorted for effecting recovery, as per his disclosure in a broad day light and in a transparent manner, there seems no foul play or deliberate reasons on police party being responsible for sudden jump/fall and consequent death of Sh. Abdul Latief Malik. But element of carelessness in handling his escort is not ruled out, where in presence of a big strength on 20/25 police personnel the suspect was able to break the attention of escorting party and jumped. As such, a departmental enquiry is recommended for further action against the Police party.


In view of the above recommendation made by the Magistrate, a DE was ordered against SI Rajinder Kumar No.36/PAU,PID No.046177,(2) HC Jaswant Singh No.522/D,(3) HC Khursheed Ahmed No.75/AP 13th ,(4) Ct. Liayaket Ali No.702/JR 4th,(5) SPO Hushyiar Singh no.1355/SPO,(6) SPO Liaket Ali No.381/SPO,97) SPO Karnail Singh no.1543/SPO and (8) SPO Manohar Lal No.3844/SPO (who were escorting accused person) vide DPO Doda’s order No.54/09 dated 16-01-2009 which is being conducted by Addl. SP Headquarters, Doda. Outcome of the enquiry is still awaited.


Moreover, it is submitted that the investigation of Case FIR no.69/2008 U/S 302/RPC of P/S Doda has been closed as not admitted vide final report no16 dated 26-04-2009.”

The victim’s father turned the findings of investigation agencies as blatant lie, to put a lid on the crime committed by the SOG. He said, “not only me; but the whole area knows that my son was never inclined to militancy even remotely. The investigations made by the investigation agencies were partial and prejudicial with the intent to cover up the crime committed by the SOG. This is shocking. I am convinced that my son was falsely implicated. ”

“My son had no reason to commit suicide, as claimed by the police. He was never in a situation, which forced him to suicide. The claim has no legs to stand on. They killed my son,” Mustafa concludes. 

In July 2008, Ghulam Mustafa filed a case before State Human Rights Commission, which is pending there.  


Ghulam Mustafa accused state machinery of failing and misleading him. He said he was told by the state agencies that the accused was suspended from service and justice would be done soon. But all hoax. Mustafa expressed his resilience to fight for justice. 

JKCCS ORGANIZE - KASHMIR IN MEDIA PERCEPTION SEMINAR
On April 19, the Jammu and Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society (JKCCS), an amalgam of 10 different civil society organizations organized a seminar “Kashmir in Media Perception”. The seminar was aimed at discussing how the Kashmir issue has been reported and viewed by the media organizations. The seminar was attended by civil society actors, human rights and social activists, lawyers and journalist fraternity.  

Debating the media role in a place like Kashmir is not an easy task, particularly for the journalists. But most participants at the seminar ‘Kashmir in Media Perspective’, journalists working for Indian media organizations included, were of the view that expecting realistic coverage of the happenings here from the Indian media was like asking for the impossible. They said while Kashmir was not an important story for the international media due to the shifting geo-political scene, the local media was constrained by several factors.

The seminar was also organized to mark the fifth death anniversary of Asiya Jeelani, who was killed in an IED explosion while monitoring parliamentary elections in 2004 as an Independent Election Observer. 

Special correspondent of The Hindu, Shujaat Bukhari, said the Pakistan Press was more faithful to its job than the Indian press. “The Pakistani press took Musharaff head on and worked to restore democracy. They question the policies of Pakistan like the Indian media never does, but I think we (journalists) have not done a bad job in the years of conflict.” 

 Syeda Afshana, the assistant professor at the Media Educational Education Research Center, however, said the local Kashmir media was facing a credibility crisis as well as intimidation by ‘invisible forces’. “But the biggest failure has been the lack of an assertive creative response from the Kashmiri Press. They may not have done a bad job, but they haven’t done a good job either,” she said.

 
Noted journalist, Parvez Bukhari, said that discussing the agendas of media was more important than perceptions. “Reporters report Kashmir as if it is a victim’s tale. They have reduced it to a human rights situation, a story of human rights violations that we seem unable to stop. Kashmir is a political dispute. When we report a rape by an army man, we report it as a human rights violation, while it is in fact a war crime,” Bukhari said.  He further said the media was slyly ignoring the context of the reports. 

 Bukhari said the events in Kashmir were occurring in a politico-military context, and that context wasn’t reflected in the media coverage. He appreciated an article by an Indian journalist and The Hindu’s media critic Sevati Ninan who touched some unsavory truth about the local media outlets.

 Editor of the Economic & Political Weekly, Gautam Navlakha, said last year was watershed in Kashmir’s history, as the discourse in the Indian Media got radically changed, from the official proxy-war-cross-border-terrorism to as bold as advocating freedom for Kashmiris. “Last year shook the collective Indian conscience,” he said.

 He further said, “There are two periods in reportage of Kashmir in Indian Press. Before the Kunan Poshpora incident, where the BSF committed mass rape, there were voices in Indian media who reported the whole truth, but after the Press Council of India gave a clean chit to the BSF the whole situation changed. After that, till the Kargil war in 1999, the Indian media had used the terms proxy war so much that it became overused.

 Dr Altaf, a noted pediatrician and author of a book on Kashmir said, when it comes to Kashmir even “the preacher of Ahimsa, Mahatma Gandhi, approved military intervention, so it was no surprise that Indian journalists should report Kashmir the way they do”. 

 Editor of the popular Urdu weekly, Chattan, Tahir Mohiuddin, said, “In the early days of the conflict, local media failed to report the atrocities by militants the way Indian media covered up the atrocities by Indian army. But in the recent years voices of dissent have risen on both sides. People who try to report truth remain a small minority.”

‘60,000 TORTURE VICTIMS IN VALLEY’

On April 22, to invite the attention towards the phenomenon of torture, Jammu and Kashmir People Rights Movement (JKPRM), an organization of former militants and the Jammu Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society (JKCCS) announced a campaign “Campaign Against Torture” from north Kashmiri’s Baramulla district. A seminar was organized where the torture victims and human rights activists laid emphasis on the need and urgency of campaign. People who have been subjected to torture by state agencies shared their experiences and appealed the civil society groups to join them to fight against the menace of torture.  
While addressing the gathering Delhi based noted human rights activist Gautam Navlakha said, the phenomenon of torture which has been used from time to time as weapon by troops in the Valley will stop only when Armed Forces (Special Power) Act is revoked. He said torture was a regular phenomenon in the Valley, and about 60,000 people of all ages have been victims of state torture in the past 20 years. Navlakha further said, “Torture has become a means of silencing dissent, and as long as the AFSPA is in force, the practice of torture won’t stop.” 
Other speakers on the occasion emphasize the need to encourage the torture survivors so that they won’t feel isolated in the society. They also advocated lobbying with international organizations working on the issue of torture in different countries. The speakers also expressed their concern over the silence of popular institutions on torture. 

  
“Torture is a global concern. The International Rehabilitation Council for Torture Victims (IRCT) 2007 is in special consultative status with the United Nations Economic and Social Council and the United Nations Department of Public Information, in participatory status with the Council of Europe, is campaigning against torture in 77 countries. But these institutions have failed to work in Kashmir which has one of the largest population of torture survivors,” said a torture victim.

Renowned human rights activist and the President of the JKCCS, Parvez Imroz, while addressing the gathering termed the issue of torture as the most neglected issue. He said. “Torture is used in a systematic and institutionalized was. It is used as an effective weapon to terrorise civilians. Torture is not used to extract information or to punish the victim, but to disconnect people and prevent political and social formations. It is very difficult to take a position on the torture victims in Kashmir as hundreds and thousands of people have become victims of torture. It is unfortunate that the issue has not gained attention but we wlcome the initiative taken by the PRM for launching the complaint.”

Imroz lamented at the lack of documentation on torture in spite of the majority of the population in the Valley having suffered physical or mental torture.  Several victims of torture, while speaking on the occasion, said that a considerable section of the society is suffering from the aftermath of torture directly or indirectly. They said the security agencies have used all the conventional and non conventional methods of torture on the civilians.

EX-COP USED AS HUMAN SHIELD

Apr 19: The residents of Kandi Nutnusa in frontier district of Kupwara alleged that a retired police constable, Shams-ud-Din, was used as human shield by the army while fighting a holed up militant. However, the allegation was denied the army and police. 


“The deceased was forced to enter into the house to hold negotiations with the militants. After he entered forces opened fire killing him and the lone militant holed up there,” locals told media reports.

Senior Superintendent of police, Kupwara, Uttam Chand, said,” These are baseless allegations. He had volunteered to go inside the house to persuade the militants to surrender, but the militant inside shot him dead. “The army’s Srinagar-based spokesman, Lt Col J S Brar, said,” Indian army doesn’t use human shields.”

O n Apr 20, following massive protests, police ordered a probe to look into the allegations about the retired police constable, being used as a human shield by troopers and Ikhwanis. “We have ordered inquiry to look into the allegations,” the senior superintendent of police Kupwara, Uttam Chand, told media.


However, he maintained that Shams-ud-Din Khan was shot dead by militant holed up inside the house. According to the police sources, the personnel of the Special Operation Group of police, who forced the deceased to enter into the house, had been attached.


Meanwhile, the Deputy Commissioner, Kupwara, Showkat Ahmed said that police had taken the suo motto cognizance. “They (police) will probe the matter, he said.


Hundreds of people took to the streets demanding probe into the circumstances that led to the killing of a civilian. Protesters alleged the deceased was forced by the SOG men to persuade the militant to surrender. “He was sent inside the house thrice and was used as a human shield after the militant refused to surrender,” they said.


The protesters also complained that the notorious Yousuf Ikhwani has unleashed a rein of terror in the area and is involved in grave crimes. Accusing that he has killed five innocents in the area, they demanded that he be disarmed and brought to justice.


Shams-ud-Din’s son, Mohammad Ashraf told media that his father was forced by the troops to enter the house where the militants were holed up. An employee in the police department, Ashraf said, “My father was asked to persuade the holed up militants for surrender. When he refused the army officers and notorious renegade Yousuf Khan who was accompanying the troops dragged and forced him to enter the house.”


Eyewitness said, Shams-ud-Din after entering the main door of the house loudly called upon the militants that the army was asking them to surrender and returned back .Yousuf who was positioned at main door fired at Shams-ud-Din, one bullet hitting his abdomen and one hitting his right hand which led to his death by the time he had reached back to the main door of the house.


After the death of Shams-ud-Din, troopers resorted to heavy mortar shelling and razed the house to ground which was constructed last year. Mourners kept his body on the road and blocked the vehicular movement. The officials reached the spot and assured them that matter would be probed. It was only after the assurances they agreed to bury the body. 

STUDENT TORTURED

Apr 28: Following severe protests by students in Sopore, police released the 17-year-old student in a critically injured condition. He was detained for two days for his alleged involvement in pro-freedom protests. Eyewitnesses said Umar Rashid Kanjwal of Takyabal, was brutally tortured in custody and his condition was critical.

“His head has been badly beaten and blood was oozing from it when he was released. He has been admitted in the hospital,” they said, adding, “He has multiple fractures in his limbs showing that he had been tortured in custody.”

The student was set free after hundreds of his fellow students took to streets seeking his immediate release. Shouting anti-government and pro-freedom slogans, the students gathered at the Iqbal Market in Main Chowk in the morning. The protesters alleged that the police were trying to frame the student in a false case.

“He has never been part of any protest. He was arrested when he was simply returning home,” they said.
GRAVE ISSUE

LOLAB RESIDENTS SPOT UNNAMED GRAVES

Apr 5: The surfacing of mass graves in north Kashmir last year attracted world attention but locals say presence of more such graves here is yet to come to light. Locals say that over 140 people lay buried in the martyr’s graveyards at Sogam and Chandigram in picturesque Lolab valley, 15 km south of Kupwara district headquarters.

According to locals, unidentified people lay buried in these graves. “These people were either killed by Indian troops or notorious government gunmen during the past 20 years of armed rebellion. Although lot of time has passed, these graves neither have the names nor the numbers for identification,” says a local, Muhammad Jamal. “Although lot of time has passed, the graves neither have names nor numbers for identification.”

Locals say that though they laid them to rest in the two graveyards, they do not know about their identities. “Barring 15, we do not know the identity of those buried.” They say Sogam and Chandigram are not the only such graveyard. “Lolab valley has many such graves scattered in forests and other villages like Lalpora, Kuligam, Bagalsar, and Machil, where unidentified persons and suspected militants lay buried.”

A caretaker of a Masjid wishing anonymity said: “Many a time people from different areas come here and enquire about their near ones who have been subjected to custodial disappearances. They tell us about their appearances but we are not able to tell from it and ask them to visit the local police station.”

The graveyard in Sogam market is spread over 2 kanal land and has no space for further burials. Locals have fenced the graveyard and planted saplings.

Nazir Ahmad, a resident of Lolab said: “When tourists visit health resorts like Gulmarg and Pahalgam, unfortunate mothers visit Lolab to check whether their sons were buried here or not.”

Another local Muhammad Sidiq said: “Some families from Bandipora and Negri Kupwara came here cried on visiting the graveyard. They had somehow come to know that their dear ones lay buried here.”

A shopkeeper in the area wishing anonymity said: “When the graveyard at Sogam was filled, we decided to bury the unidentified bodies at a separate place at Chandigram. Around 70 bodies have been buried at the Chandigram graveyard.” He said more such unidentified graves can be found at Lalpora and Kulgam villages where police stations are located. Locals said that the bodies were handed over to them by the local police stations.

Deputy Commissioner Kupwara Showkat Ahmad Mir said: “I have recently taken charge and nobody has drawn my notice to the issue. I will look into the matter.”

TORTURE TESTIMONIALS
1. Name: Parvaiz Ahmed Shaikh

Age: 26 years

Education: Post Graduation, Political Science

Nationality: Indian/Kashmiri

Occupation: Teacher, History – Standards 8, 9 and 10

Association: NGO work – Scholars Research Club

Address: Model Public School, Handwara

Civilian/Militant: Civilian

Date of interview: 14/04/09

Parvaiz Ahmed Shaikh is a teacher in Model Public School, Handwara tehsil. During the Amarnath Shrine Controversy in August-September, 2008, he was an active protestor against the government’s stand on allocating the land to the Amarnath Shrine Board. Early morning on 1st September, 2008, at around 2.30 a.m., Parvaiz claims that he was picked up by the Special Operations Group (SOG). He further adds that he was aware that action was going to be initiated against him and therefore took measures to hide himself. Embarrassed by the interrogation faced by his family, he produced himself to the police. Thereafter, he was escorted to the SOG camp at gunpoint. 

He was held by the SOG in the camp for four days during which he claims to be tortured for a little more than an hour for two days by DSP Geelani and SOP Faiz Ahmed. The SOG tended to torture many people at the same time. The nature of the torture that he faced (which he claims was comparatively less) was as follows:

He was stripped to his underwear and beaten with a baton on his thighs and back till the blood started oozing out. At this point, he was asked to sit down but because of his injuries he was unable to do so. He was again beaten on his back muscles, while being restrained on the floor by four people. Then he was taken out and locked up in a cell where he was offered water but as he was on Roza (Fast) he begged off. This request was respected by the SOG. On the second day he was insulted, to which he reacted badly and was again beaten up in a similar fashion. The remaining two days, he spent in the cell of the camp.

After four days in the camp, he was shifted to the Handwara Police Station. He believes that this is basically because his family had pleaded with higher ups to release him. 

In police custody, he wasn’t tortured as such but the food given to him was not apt for someone observing Roza. Therefore, he refused to take food. No medical treatment was provided to him during custody. After four days in police custody, he was granted bail although a charge sheet was filed against him.

After being released, he got treated medically on his own expenses. The lot of blood clotting, for which he was prescribed some medicines.

The case lasted for one and a half months before the First Class Magistrate. He went two-three times for his summons. At one hearing, he was forced to wait outside for two hours. Parvaiz holds the view that, “the biggest democracy (India) and no solidarity with the people” 

Parvaiz hasn’t complained anywhere against the government machinery and the people who tortured him.

2. Name: Mushtaq Ahmed

Age: 29

Education: Graduate

Occupation: Teacher – 10/11th, English

Civilian/Militant: Civilian (no association with militants)

Association: Religious group, named Al-E-Hadih

Religion: Islam

Nationality: Kashmiri/Indian

Address: Model Public School, Handwara

Date of Interview: 14th April, 2008

Mushtaq Ahmed claims that he has never been associated with any protest, or activities against the state. Yet, one day, in the month of August, he received information that someone from the police was looking for him in order to interrogate him for being involved in burning a police vehicle and damaging the migrant houses in Kralgund. On receiving this information, Mushtaq left his house and went into hiding for a month and a half. 

 
This period, he claims, was one of great unrest for him. He had to frequently change his location of stay for his safety. In this period of one and a half months, he was unable to be in touch with his family and was constantly in hiding. He was emotionally unstable during this period, as it was one of great anxieties. Despite all this, he never received any direct threat from the police although he constantly received information from his friends that they were being interrogated about him. Those two months, says Mushtaq, were unbearable and excruciating.

He used political influence to get his name removed from the list. 
3. Name: Parvaiz Ahmed Tantray

Age: 28

Education: 12th Standard

Occupation: Teacher – Urdu

Civilian/Militant: Civilian (no association with militants)

Association: He was a reporter for News and Feature Alliance

Religion: Islam

Nationality: Kashmiri/Indian

Address: Model Public School, Handwara

Date of Interview: 14th April, 2008

On 28th August, 2008, Parvaiz was coming back from offering Namaz (prayers) when he heard some sounds coming from the street. He found out that there was a protest going on and Army was firing on the people. In this firing, some people who were gathered around got injured. Parvaiz and his friend then attempted to take the injured to the hospital nearby.

At the hospital, because of the gathering, the Special Task Force (STF) discharged tear gas shells into the hospital. This was followed by a lathi charge on all the people in the area, during which he got beaten. He received head injuries because of this beating. 

Immediately after this, he was taken to Handwara Police Station with 29 others. He was kept there for four hours. Here his wound was dressed and he was not tortured. At the same time, a case was filed against him under various sections, including 302 – attempt to murder the SP. He was released on bail. After this he went to the hospital on his own where his head wound received eight stitches. He claims that this wound hurts him till today.  Parvaiz says that he doesn’t see any reason why these things happened to him. 

He has never made an attempt to complain against him. His hearings are still going on. 

Parvaiz came across as a person with very low confidence. He did not maintain eye contact. His body language bespoke nervousness and lack of self-esteem. His sentences were not coherent or well-framed. The facts were not in sequence as the order of the events.

NO TO TORTURE: APDP

April 28: The Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons (APDP) during its monthly sit in while focusing on the phenomenon of torture stated: 
Successive civilian governments responsible for enforced or involuntary disappearances (EID) in the state of J&K have shown apathy towards desaparecidos. The political parties harp on human rights issues only when they are out of power. Hitherto, no remedial measure or demands of the APDP have been considered or accepted. J&K is the only place, where the victims of EID have been demanding investigation into the phenomenon without any success, notwithstanding, the campaign launched 15 years ago. In Latin America and even in some South Asian Countries the governments have to some extent provided  remedies to the relatives, the recent example is that of Nepal where the number of disappeared is less than 2000, the government  has appointed commissions, but in J&K the policy is to tire the relatives, and to disappear the issue of disappearance. 

The families of EID (8-10,000 even the govt. acknowledged 3931 missing) victims constitute more than 200 thousand persons. They are the victims of various forms of torture. The half-widows and their children are suffering from Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), depressive psychosis and other mental related disorders. This shall continue to haunt them as long as the government would not comes out with the whereabouts of the disappeared persons or informs them about the truth. Torture has become a part of their life, as the government refuses to address these issues. 

The government having failed the suffering souls, the civil society has to come forward to mitigate the sufferings of the families of the EID. It is the responsibility of the civil society to support the victim families, as victims of torture can come out of the quagmire, otherwise, the discouragement would make their struggle further cumbersome.

The disappeared families as victims of torture can understand and feel the pain of other torture victims. The APDP, therefore, appeals the civil society to join the campaign against torture in the state of Jammu and Kashmir where thousands of victims are awaiting justice. 

CIVILIAN SHOT AT 
Apr 25: Police registered a case against an assistant sub inspector and four other policemen allegedly for attempting to murder a civilian. All the accused will be taken into custody shortly, senior police officials said.

According to reports, the assistant sub inspector posted as chowki officer, Chingus, signaled a civilian, Zahid Khan Son of Bashir Ahmad, around 11 a.m. to stop when the latter was on his way from his native village to this border town. Driving his Maruti car, Khan allegedly ignored the signal.

Reports said the irritated police official waited till Khan was on way back to his village. Sources said the chowki officer along with some more policemen raided Khan’s house at about 2 p.m. and dragged him out. When the boy resisted, the police official allegedly showered a number of bullets on his back leaving him critically injured.

At this, hundreds of villagers collected at the spot and, after “disarming” the police personnel, held them hostage till the additional superintendent of police arrived to pacify them. On his assurance of action against the erring officials, the villagers released the personnel.

Talking to media, the senior superintendent of police, Shafqat Watali, said a case had been registered against the ASI and four other policemen and stern action would be taken against them. “Yes, they (police officials) have crossed all limits and there was no need to fire on a civilian on such a petty issue,” he said, adding that all the accused would be taken into custody soon.
TORTURE VICTIM REVEALS PLIGHT OF KASHMIRI INMATES

Apr 27: Peer Mehraj-u-din is yet to recover from the mental torture at the hands of his interrogators who had even prodded him to confess to plan of killing BJP leaders, L K Advani and Narendra Modi in a bid to frame him on false charges.


Residents of Baramulla district’s Mukam, Potukhah area, Mehraj-u-Din had gone to Mumbai in 2002 to apply for MBA course in Rizwi College, Bandra when at the Mumbai Railway station he was picked up by some unidentified men in civvies.


“They asked about my identification, and when I resisted and asked them to identify themselves, they were infuriated. They dragged and bundled me in a vehicle and I found myself in a room with four other young men,” Mehraj recalls, adding,” Three days had passed and I was in Delhi, which I didn’t know then.”


Mehraj recalls how he and the other boys were interrogated in the same room for hours together.” Every question was followed by punches and blows. All of us were hanged upside down and they urinated on our faces,” he said. He also revealed how his two fellow inmates were killed in a “fake encounter.”

“In the dead of the night, we were taken in a cab to a lonely place where two of the boys were shot dead and we were asked to run. As soon as we started running, our captors shouted at us drawing the attention of nearby people,” recalls Mehraj, adding that they shouted,” We have killed two and arrested three. The people also started calling us terrorists and beat us with stones after the policeman presented it as a genuine encounter.”

Later, Mehraj was asked to sign some blank papers.” They told me to confess before media that I had plans to kill Advani and Modi,” he said. Mehraj was accused of possessing explosive material which he denies even today.

After being convicted under POTA, he was shifted to Tihar Jail where he was kept for more than four years. He says he was subjected to third degree torture for months together.” For the first few days I would be regularly stripped naked and beaten. They would give me electric shocks almost daily. An officer known as Roy Singh would urinate on my face,” recalls Mehraj amid sobs, adding that he filed a writ petition (381/2005) against Singh and other jail authorities later.

He added that he was not the only victim, but all the Kashmiri inmates would undergo severe mental torture.” Apart from being abused, we were forced to do Puja every morning. Even copies of Holy Quran would be trampled under the feet before our eyes.”

Like Mehraj ,hundreds of Kashmiris have been falsely implicated and subjected to third degree torture, asserts Abdul Qadeer Dar, Chairman of People’s Right’s Movement (PRM),an organization fighting for the rights of released militants.” Mehraj is one among hundreds who were treated inhumanly in Tihar jail. There are more than 60,000 people, some of whom are working as PRM volunteers now, have been severely tortured,” Dar said, adding,” There is an immediate need to start a vigorous campaign against this state-sponsored evil.”

CM ORDERS PROBE INTO BEATING OF RTI ACTIVIST
Apr 1: Chief Minister Omar Abdullah ordered an inquiry into an incident involving beating of an activist who was seeking information about a water plant in Chadoora under the Right to Information Act. The activist, Nazir Ahmad Ganai, was picked by Chadoora police and allegedly severely beaten by a police officer at Chadoora Police station. As a result, Ganai developed fracture in his neck and his two teeth have also been damaged.

Nazir said corruption was rampant in the offices of Chadoora Tehsil and he has been campaigning for the past five years against it. 

 As part of his campaign, Nazir was seeking details about funds spent on a water plant in Chadoora. According to Nazir though funds have been withdrawn from the treasury for the plant, no work has done on it. 

 “The official in charge is reluctant to give me information even though it is my right,” he said. He said police had been asking him to stop seeking information, and when he didn’t relent he was beaten.

FOLLOW UP
INQUIRY OFFICER SUMMONS CRPF CO 

KHAIGAM PROBE

Apr 4: The additional deputy commissioner, Pulwama, Adil Rasheed Naqash, who is the inquiry officer in the killing of a carpenter, Ghulam Mohi-ud-din Malik, at Khaigam near Pakherpora in the south Kashmir district of Pulwama, has summoned the Commanding officer of CRPF’s 181 battalion.

Sources told media that Naqash had written to the CO for presenting himself in ADC’s office to record his statement in the killing. Malik was killed by a group of CRPF troopers late in the evening on March 18 in his rented house. Source said the CO would appear before the inquiry officer on April 6.

Meanwhile, the inquiry officer has received from police the post-mortem report of the carpenter and a copy of the case registered against the CRPF battalion. The inquiry team has already recorded the statement of assistant commandant and six other CRPF troopers, allegedly involved in the killing. Malik is survived by his pregnant wife, four children including two daughters and aged parents.

The police had already turned down the claims by the CRPF troopers that Malik was killed in cross firing. Instead, it has said in its report that Malik was shot from a very close range and there was no cross firing on the spot.

GK, UZMA STAFFER HARASSED
Apr 6: The troopers of CRPF manhandled the correspondent of Kashmir Uzma and Greater Kashmir, Tariq Ali Mir at Kak Sarai on April 4.Tariq Ali Mir was harassed while he was on way to his rented accommodation at Kak Sarai.Though the CRPF PRO was informed about the incident, no action has been taken against the accused troopers. 

 Meanwhile, journalists, political and social organizations have strongly condemned Mir’s harassment and urged the higher officials to probe the matter.

WOMEN AT RECEIVING END

· CHADOORA HALF-WIDOW ALLEGES HARASSMENT BY CRPF

Apr 1: Mughli, 42, whose husband was abducted by unidentified gunmen 13 years ago is being harassed by the CRPF troopers who suspect that her husband was a militant and has now returned home. The woman has filed a petition in the State Human Rights Commission, seeking an end to frequent CRPF raids on her house.  

 
Mughli said her husband Abdul Rashid Hajam was abducted by unidentified gunmen from his shop in Branwar at Chadoora in Budgam district 13 years ago. She said since his disappearance she had lived miserably and faced hardships bringing up a son and a daughter in a small cottage. She said for quite some time now the troopers of 178 battalion stationed at Sursyar Chadoora were harassing her, seeking the whereabouts of her disappeared husband. 

 “They tell me he has returned. They have raided my home several times and my children are frightened. How can I tell them where he is when I haven’t seen him for the past thirteen years,” she said.

Mughli said some “influential” persons in the area were after her land and they were instigating the troopers to harass her.

· EVE TEASING SPARKS PROTEST AGAINST CRPF

Apr 13: Protests erupted at Rambagh Srinagar after two CRPF personal allegedly thrashed a bus conductor and resorted to eve teasing of some girl passengers. According to eyewitnesses, two CRPF men of 177 BN in civvies who were traveling in a passenger bus from Hyderpora to Lal Chowk entered an argument with the bus conductor, and then started beating him ruthlessly.


“After beating him to pulp, they resorted to eve teasing of some girls passengers,” an eyewitness who was traveling in the same bus told media. He said when the bus reached near the Solina Bridge, the eve-teasing victims asked for help from the pedestrians. “People rushed to the spot and gave a severe thrashing to the culprits,” Gulzar Ahmad Sofi, an eyewitness said.


Sofi said the CRPF men managed to escape from the spot and took refuge in the Solina CRPF camp.” The youth became furious when CRPF gave shelter to the culprits, “he said.


Subsequently, hundreds of people staged protests against the CRPF and demanded action against the erring personal. They also blocked traffic for nearly an hour. In the ensuing clashes between police and protesters, SHO Shergari, Ajaz Ahmad Mir sustained head injury.


Meanwhile, PRO CRPF Prabhakar Tripathi said, “We have taken a strong cognizance of the scuffle by two CRPF men in a public bus. Both the accused have been suspended.”

· UNIDENTIFIED GUNMEN KILL WOMAN

Apr 16: A 60- year-old woman was killed and her son critically injured when unidentified gunmen opened indiscriminate fire in South Kashmir’s Kellar area of Shopian district. 

Police said family feud may be the cause behind killing. SP Shopian Javed Matoo said a group of unidentified gunmen entered into the house of Mohammad Aslam Awam at Dunardu area of Kellar,” As they entered the house, they opened indiscriminate firing resulting in killing of a woman, Reshma, on the spot. Her son was also critically injured.” he said family feud could have been the cause behind the killing. “We suspect gunmen were used,” Matoo said

· TROOPER DISARMED FOR FILMING GIRLS

Apr 16: A court disarmed a Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) trooper after he was caught red handed taking photographs of girls inside the High Court premises. Soon the girls in hundreds thronged the court to fill the forms for junior assistant and data operator posts the CRPF trooper was found filming the girls. While the girls were completing various formalities, a CRPF trooper of 23 Battalion, Somnath, clicked photographs of the girls by his mobile phone.


Sensing trouble, the girls immediately called in some people for intervention. Following this, the trooper fled from the spot but was later held and produced in the office of Registrar Judicial, where his phone was seized. The Bar Association also filed a complaint before Registrar Judicial seeking legal action against the trooper, who was disarmed and removed from duty at the court premises.


Eyewitnesses of the incident alleged that the trooper was drunk. “It is unfortunate that such shameful acts by troopers are becoming a habit in every nook and corner of the city,” said Zubair Ahmad, an eyewitness. Lawyers who spoke to media said the authorities must seriously look into such issues to avoid public harassment. 

“Such nonsense acts by the troopers are outrageous and condemnable. These acts are becoming the order of the day with government least concerned about the matter,” said a group of lawyers. “The incident in this court is just tip of the iceberg. It is turning out to be a widespread phenomenon as such complaints pour in every now and then,” they added.

· WOMEN KILLED IN DODA ENCOUNTERS NOT MILITANTS: REPORTS

Apr 21: Two women, killed in encounters in Doda district, were not militants but had close personal links with the ultras, top intelligence sources said in Jammu. Reports have revealed that the militants used to take shelter in the houses of the two women, who also arranged food for them, the sources said. The militants would act as their lovers, they added.

The reports, however, did not indicate whether the two women were trained in arms or had, at any point of time, helped the militants in their operations against the security forces.

Dilshada, 24, daughter of Ghulam Rasool Parray of Kurdar Manwas village, was killed along with a Hizbul Mujahideen commander during an encounter with troops of Rashtriya Rifle in forest area of Kastigarh in the district on April 19.Just one day ago, on April 18, Zahida Begum, along with two LeT commanders, was killed in an encounter at Bagla village in the district. 

HARASSMENT, BEATING AND PROTESTS

· KELLAR RESIDENTS ALLEGE HARASSMENT BY ARMY

Apr 3: The residents of at least half a dozen villages of Kellar Pulwama have accused the army of harassment by laying cordon around the villages, and searching their houses from the last five days. The residents of Abama, Sangarwani, Kalanpora, Kenadoo, Chawan and Ganai Mohalla of Pulwama told media that the army men of 44 RR frequently cordon off the villages and search their houses since the encounter between them and the militants at Moshwara on March 30.     

“Since the encounter in which two Pakistani militants were killed we have been facing harassment at the hands of army. They cordon off the villages everyday and make rounds of the streets carrying lathis in their hands. They even search our houses,” said Nazir Ahmad of Moshwara, adding that it has created fear psychosis among the villagers.

Another villager, Hammed Teetwal of Sangarwani said, “The army men after the Kellar gunfight have thrice cordoned off our village. Besides searching our houses, they hurl choicest abuses on the villagers.” 

The residents of these villages have threatened to migrate from the area if the army does not stop harassing them.” The army men have turned our lives hell since the Keller encounter. If they continue to harass us like this we will be left with no option but to migrate from the area as it has become routine on part of the army to cordon one or the other villages here,” said Abdulla Teetwal of Kalanpora, adding, “They ask us to provide information about the militants hiding in the area.”             

Expressing ignorance about the matter, PRO Defence J S Brar told media, “I don’t have any such information. I will check it out and let you know.”

· 18 HURT IN CLASHES WITH POLICE

YOUTH HIT BY RUBBER BULLET IN BARAMULLA

Apr 10: At least 18 persons were injured, one of them critically when police fired rubber bullets and tear smoke shells to disperse protestors in Srinagar and Baramulla. Chanting pro-freedom and anti-India slogans, groups of youth took to roads at Nowhatta, Rajouri Kadal, Kawdara and adjoining areas after the Friday congregation prayers and staged anti-election demonstrations.

 The protestors tried to march ahead but were intercepted by police and CRPF personnel, who were deployed in strength in the areas. The cops fired tear smoke shells and resorted to heavy baton charge to disperse the agitating youth, who retaliated by hurling stones and bricks towards them. In the clashes, which continued for nearly an hour, eight protestors were injured.

Meanwhile, the clashes also broke out outside Masjid Baitul Mukarram in North Kashmir’s Baramulla district after the Friday prayers. During the clashes, police fired dozens of tear smoke shells and rubber bullets, injuring four protestors. The injured were shifted to District Hospital Baramulla, where from one of the critically injured Umar Jalal son of Jalal-U-Din of Ganai Hamam was referred to a hospital in Srinagar for specialized treatment. Doctors said that Jalal had received rubber bullet injury on his head and termed his condition as “life threatening.”

Two policemen were also injured in the clashes. After the incident, additional cops were deployed in the area to prevent people from coming out on roads and staging demonstrations. Meanwhile, six persons were also injured in clashes with police at main town Sopore. Police also arrested a protestor during the clashes.

· NAWAKADAL PROTESTS AGAINST POLICE, CRPF
PEOPLE ALLEGE HARASSMENT, DEMAND REMOVAL OF BUNKER FROM KAWDARA

Hundreds of residents staged two day protest demonstration against the Jammu and Kashmir police at Gratebal area in Nawakadal in Srinagar’s downtown. The protestors alleged that police personnel entered various houses after the youth pelted stones on them after Friday prayers April 10. The protestors demanded action against the cops and said that the CRPF bunker at Kawdara main Chowk be removed.
Reports said that angry residents blocked the main road at Gratebal in Nawakadal and started protest demonstration against the police personnel. Shouting anti-police slogans, the protestors alleged that many cops entered their houses in civvies and beat the inmates. People also alleged that in most of the houses the cops also took away cash and misbehaved with the woman folk.
“The cops belonging to the Jammu and Kashmir police were wearing plain clothes when they arrived in police vehicles and entered various houses, “Muhammad Ashraf, president of the residents association told media. He said he told the cops beat me up and as a result I suffered a fracture in my left arm,”Ashraf added.
The locals also alleged that the cops were supported by the CRPF troopers.” The CRPF men also managed to enter various houses and in most cases took cash and valuables from the inmates,” Hajra Begum (65) told media. She said that she was also beaten by the cops in civvies and as a result she too suffered a fracture in her left arm.Hajra said that the people of the area are being targeted for no fault of theirs. She said that the residents will continue with their protests till the CRPF bunker constructed at main Chowk Kawdara is not removed and shifted to another place.

Public relation officer of the CRPF, Prabhakar Tripathi, denied that troopers had barged into the houses and had thrashed the inmates. He said that CRPF bunker in the area was strategically placed and had been set-up in consultation with the police. “If locals have a problem with the bunker, they can consult the officials and we can then consider their demand,” he said, adding,”Resorting to violence is not the way to demand its removal.”
· COPS BEATS DRIVER, SPARKS PROTESTS
Apr 13:Hundreds of people staged protests after a police constable allegedly beat a Sumo driver without any provocation at Lal chowk.After the protests the accused policeman, posted at police post Sherbagh falling under the jurisdiction of police station Saddar,was attached to district police lines Islamabad.

According to eyewitnesses, a Sumo driver, Javed Ahmad Bhat, son of Muhammad Sultan Bhat of Utrasso Achabal was thrashed by the policeman for parking his vehicle in the main chowk.”On seeing the driver parking his vehicle on a roadside in the main market Lal Chowk, the policeman rushed towards him without any provocation .He continued to beat the driver till he fell unconscious, “said an eyewitness Bilal Ahmad, adding that before the driver could have moved on the policeman dragged him out from the Sumo.

On seeing the policeman continuously thrashing the driver, people rushed to the spot and immediately rushed him to the hospital. They staged protest blocking the traffic for hours together. It was only after the assurance of top police officials to punish the erring policeman that the protestors dispersed and allowed the traffic to move. 

When contacted SSP Islamabad Showkat Malik told media,” The erring policeman has been attached with the district police lines. We have initiated investigation into the matter and the accused cop will be given severe punishment if found guilty after the investigation.”
· BROTHERS BEATEN IN TRAL

Apr 24: Special Operation Group allegedly thrashed brothers in south Kashmir’s Tral area. According to media, on April 23, SOG Tral raided house of Ghulam Rasool Shah in Machhama area of village Bangder Tral. After barging in the house, the SOG personnel took the two sons of Ghulam Rasool, Gulzar Ahmad and Sheeraz Ahmad to a separate room. Media quoting family members said later the duo were severely beaten and taken to hospital. 

The members said SOG flogged the brothers without any reason. The family members alleged that besides, ransacking the house, the SOG personnel extorted Rs. 3000 and forcibly took a mobile phone from them. They said, while returning back, the SOG personnel warned them of dire consequences if they reported to any body about the incident. 

BSF MAN ACCUSED OF YOUTH’S KILLING SURRUNDERS
Apr 10: A former Border Security Force (BSF) commandant accused of being involved in the killing of a youth 18 years ago has surrendered before a city court. The ex commandant J K Chowdhry of 102 Bn of BSF surrendered before the court of Chief judicial Magistrate (CJM) Srinagar after orders for his arrest were issued to him at Kolkota.

The state police investigating the custodial disappearance of Arshad Ahmad Bhat, son of Ali Muhammad of Buchwara Dalgate had long been seeking the questioning of accused officer. As soon as Chowdhry appeared before the court, M I Wani, the CJM ordered him to approach the concerned police station (Ram Munshi Bagh) to facilitate in the investigation of the case.
“It is for the investigating Officer (IO) to ascertain the involvement of the applicant in the commission of the offence”, the magistrate said.
Arshad was picked up by 102 Bn of BSF on December 5, 1991 during a combing operation in Dalgate area of Srinagar.Half dozen local boys were also picked up by the soldiers. All the youth except Arshad returned to their homes after a few days of torture.Arshad’s father searched for him in every military camp of the valley, but to no avail. He then approached court pleading that his son was taken by BSF men, detained and tortured in the PAPA 2 detention camp.
The sessions court observed that the victim was detained by 102 Bn of BSF operating in the area and headed by Commandant JK Chowdhry.The court ordered investigation into the incident, but the accused did not cooperate with the investigating agency.
Arshad’s father filed a writ petition in the High court against the state demanding the whereabouts of his son. The BSF initially declined to budge but after protracted argument between Advocate Mir Shafaqat and the state attorney Ishaq Qadri, the High Court confirmed the custodial disappearances of the youth.
It directed the police to speed up its investigation and trace the accused. It also asked the CJM to monitor the investigation and pass the required orders whenever necessary. After strenuous efforts by the city police, the accused commandant was located to be residing at B DE-375 Salt Lake Kolkota, West Bengal. The BSF tried to absolve itself by claiming that Chowdhry had retired in 1995, and that he was no more under their command and control. After serving an arrest warrant by the SSP Srinagar, the accused officer presented himself before the court and sought cancellation of his arrest warrant.
SHOPKEEPER KILLED IN CUSTODY IN 1989, FAMILY DENIED BURIAL

Apr 1: Twenty years have elapsed since the family members of Ali Muhammad Ahanger, who was tortured to death in Banaras jail, were denied the permission to perform his funeral rites. They are still waiting for his body for a burial in his homeland. Ahanger of Naid Khun Islamabad, a shopkeeper by profession, was allegedly implicated falsely by the state police in 1989. He was later sent to Banaras jail where he was tortured to death. His family members could not offer funeral prayers for Ahanger. They allege that the Banaras police refused to hand over his body to them. 

Narrating the events preceding his death, Ahanger’s son, Roheed Ahmad said, “During the intervening night of December 28 and 29, 1989, police raided our house searching for my father who was not at home that night as he had gone to one of his customer’s house for payment collection. In his absence at home, police arrested my uncle Muhammad Amin Ahanger saying that he will be released once we hand over my father to them. The next day when my father returned home and came to know about the matter, he went to the local police station himself. From there he was taken to the Joint Interrogation Centre Kupwara,” Roheed said, adding, “From there he was taken back to JIC Islamabad.” During his detention, the then Deputy Commissioner Islamabad slapped PSA 19/89 against Ahanger and sent him to Banaras Jail where he was tortured to death.

Struggling to control his emotions, Roheed breaks down when he recalls the day they were informed by the police about his father’s deteriorating health in the jail.     

“Only 40 days after my father was taken to Banaras jail some police men came to our home and informed us that owing to deteriorating health of my father in Banaras, he has been admitted in the hospital there and needs to be attended by his family members. We suspected that something was wrong and my grandfather, without wasting any time, rushed to Banaras the same day accompanied by one of our relatives only to find his son dead,” Roheed said, adding that the police commissioner refused to hand over the body citing strict directions from the Home Ministry.

His grandfather, according to Roheed, stayed in Banaras for more than two weeks putting up all efforts to secure the body of his deceased son. “He was told by the police commissioner of Banaras to get permission for taking the body of his son from Home Ministry. When my grandfather told the commissioner that he was not such an influential person to be able to secure the permission, the police handed over the dead body to the local panchayat for burial in Banaras,” said Roheed.

After his burial, a letter, the copy of which is lying with the media, was sent to his family stating the cause of Ahanger’s death as severe fever. No politician or human rights organization, according to Roheed, helped the family in securing the body of his father.

“We will never be able to forget how our father was falsely implicated and tortured to death. What would ease our pain a bit is the burial of our father with our own hands after proper funeral prayers. They tortured our father once and for all, but the denial of his last rites is agonizing us every moment,” said Roheed.

Ahanger’s family wants the chief minister and human rights groups to intervene in the matter so that his body is handed over to them. “It would be an unforgettable favour if the chief minister or any human rights activist helped me, my mother and my two sisters out of the pain we experience every moment when we recall how we were denied even the last rites of my father,” Roheed said, adding that his father wanted to see him as an engineer and his two sisters to excel in the field of medical sciences.

HC ISSUES NOTICE TO CENTRE, ARMY, STATE

TWO CIVILIANS DISAPPEARED IN ARMY CUSTODY

Apr 27: The High Court issued notice to Army and the state government in custodial disappearance of two persons eight years ago. The court has directed the army and the state government to respond to the notice within three weeks. Ghulam Hassan Dar and Ghulam Muhammad Lone of Shamaspora Islamabad filed two petitions in the High Court about the disappearance of their sons. Their counsel Ghulam Qadir Bhat informed the Court that on November 23,2001 Sajjad Ahmad Dar, son of Ghulam Hassan Dar and Feroz Ahmad Lone, son of Ghulam Muhammad Lone were picked up from their houses by Ikhwanis who were working with the Army and since then their whereabouts are not known.

 The Ikhwanis who lifted the civilians have been identified as Tariq Ahmad Bhat and Manzoor Ahmad Paddar of Maloon in Islamabad. The parents of both the boys immediately registered a complaint with the police station. However, the police didn’t help them to locate their sons. 

 Meanwhile, they received a call from Kupwara resident Muhammad Yousuf Dar that their sons were lodged in Palpora Kupwara. The parents rushed to Kupwara and informed the concerned police station. The SHO concerned informed them that he had taken up the matter with the Army and it had agreed to release them after questioning. However, they were not released and the SHO forced the parents to leave the place. The resident Muhammad Yousuf Dar who had informed the parents was shot dead. 

 The police inaction forced the parents to approach the State Human Rights Commission. On October 17, 2006 the SHRC in its judgment confirmed that they have been subjected to enforced disappearance during custody. It ordered the government to give compensation to the relatives of the disappeared persons. 

 The Commission had also passed remarks against the then SHO police station Kupwara. The SHO concerned didn’t provide records before the Commission. He also didn’t appear before the commission despite the directions of the commission and orders of the Director General Police.

  The Commission had ordered that the case of murder and kidnapping be registered against the Army. But years have passed neither the case has been registered nor the recommendations of the SHRC regarding the ex-gratia have been accepted by the Government. The Court directed the Union Home Secretary, 14 Rajput Unit of Army, DGP Police, SSP Kulgam and deputy commissioner Islamabad to respond within three weeks.

TRAGIC FAMILY 

DISAPPEARED MAN
ZOONA FIGHTS GRIEF, INSECURITY TO BECOME BREAD EARNER FOR FAMILY
Apr 5: Ghulam Mohiudin Wani resident of Sutharan village in Budgam was allegedly picked up by some unidentified persons around 1 A.M. at night and then he was never spotted by his family or friends. The incident occurred 12 years back.Wani's wife Zoona has lost all hopes. She believes that going to police station regularly would bring disgrace to her family and her own self. She could not receive any support from her own parents, she had to work as a labourer alongside her father-in-law to support her family of four daughters and two sons. Their children were very small then to understand these merciless happenings which influenced their past and spread their gloom to their future. 

Zoona owned 12 kanals of land after her wedding and her husband was the first man in the entire village to own the first vehicle. But that wealth did not last long when her daily labour could not manage the home expenditure and economic conditions grew all the worse, she had to sell off her land. Like her husband she wished to send her children to school to impart them a better education. For sometime this wish seemed to have materialised but then it vanished. 

Her eldest daughter left her school halfway to help her mother and become another earning hand for her home. She took to carpet weaving several years ago and now earns a good amount to support the other existing basic needs. Seeing her sister working vigorously on her carpets and doing the needle work from dawn to dusk, the elder son lost all interest in his studies and also started working as a labourer.

Zoona thinks it was there wealth which was envied and which ruined them. She says money won them lots of enemies. In fact she has a suspicion that someone got jealous of their prosperity wrongly informed about them to army and that is why her husband was picked up. The woman strongly refutes the allegation of security men that Wani had crossed over LoC and some times returns to meet his family. She said this is a baseless and mischievous allegation being used as a cover up by the security men.

IMAMS UNDER POLICE SCANNER

Apr 30: The Imams (one who lead Muslim prayers) of the valley are being questioned by the state police.  Police said it is a routine practice to keep the record of the Imams.  

On April 30 some cops questioned the Imam of a Suburb Masjid, Pir Bagh district Budgam. The cops from police post Humhama questioned the Imam at Jamia Masjid Hanafiya, Pir Bagh for around half-an-hour and collected his details.

 
The Imam, Hafiz Muhammad Asad of Uttar Pradesh has been associated with the Masjid for last nine years. He is putting up there with his family, which includes wife and two young kids.

 The Imam said after through questioning about his stay in the Valley and back-home, he was finally informed by the cops that he would be called to the police station “if need arises”.

A police official confirmed that the Imam was also asked that “he doesn’t look to be UP man but from Multan.”

Officials said the drive has been started to “verify the credentials of Imams to see if any of them was involved in militancy related activities.”

 “We also need to need to cross check the information given by them (Imams) about their permanent addresses and other details,” said a police official on the condition of anonymity.

But police official from the Humhama post said: “We do such questioning of non-local Imams for verification.”

 “It’s a routine matter,” he said.

Meanwhile, the Pir Bagh residents condemned the police action terming it “unwarranted’ and “harassment of a pious man”.

AILING MOTHER SEEKS SHIFTING OF JAILED SONS
Apr 5: The mother of two Kashmiri brothers languishing in New Delhi’s Tihar jail for the past 13 years has demanded shifting of her sons to Srinagar Central Jail and holding of their trial here. The duo, Mirza Iftikhar Husain and Mirza Nisar Husain, who used to do shawl business in various Indian states, were accused of being involved in the Lajpat Nagar blast in New Delhi in 1996 and are since then languishing in jail. Their family says that they are innocent even as police has failed to prove the charges against them. Fatima Begum, mother of Mirza brothers, said she wanted that her sons be shifted to Srinagar so that she could meet them. 

 For the past six years, Fatima said, none of the family members had any meeting with them. “Earlier we had engaged a lawyer and used to visit the jailed sons after every six months. Now we don’t have any resources to make frequent visits to Delhi,” the ailing mother said, adding “I want them to be shifted to Srinagar Central Jail so that I could meet them.”

 Fatima said her two sons were the bread earners for the family after the death of their father, Mirza Ali Muhammad. “After their arrest, our whole business crumbled and our economic condition has worsened. Had the court sentenced them to life imprisonment, even term would have been completed.”

 She said her sons were innocent and had been falsely implicated in the case.” The local police here wrote to their counterparts in Delhi that neither of them was involved in any anti-state activity but to no avail,” she said. “They have been imprisoned for life without any of the charges being proved.”

According to Fatima, their trial was being prolonged as the judges were changed frequently. “I want their trail should be held here so that the case is disposed off swiftly,” she said. “My last wish is to see the face of my sons.”

CJM DIRECTS ARMY TO HAND OVER TA MEN
‘CUSTODIAL KILLING’
Apr 21: A local court has directed army to hand over troops accused of murdering a civilian in custody. The chief judicial magistrate Kulgam has directed the commanding officer of the 162 Battalion/INF JAKLI, Wazir camp posted at Qazigund to hand over the troops accused in the murder of Ghulam Rasool Lone during custodial interrogation.

 
The application moved by the Crime Branch, Kashmir through inspector Farooq Ahmad before the CJM, Kulgam for issuance of warrant under section 25 of the Police Act stated that three government gunmen turned territorial soldiers Nisar Ahmad Dar of Khudwani, Muhammad Ashraf Wani of Bugam, Shakeel Ahmad of Poniwah, Kulgam presently serving in the territorial army are accused in the murder of Ghulam Rasool Lone son of Abdul Gani Lone of Souch, Kulgam in 2002. 

 The FIR bearing number 96/2001 under offence 302,364 and 345/RPC stands lodged in the Kulgam police station. The prosecution had submitted before the court that the concerned commanding officer was not cooperating with the investigation of the case against the accused and was stressing on interrogating the accused in the army camp only.

 The prosecution stated that when the FIR was lodged against the accused, they were part of the counter-insurgent group (Ikhwan), so they can’t be interrogated by the army. Subsequently, the court allowed the application and directed the commanding officer of the 162 Bn to handover the accused to the Crime Branch for custodial interrogation. 

 The Crime Branch has also been directed to get the remand of the accused as per the provisions of the CRPC and present charge-sheet at the earliest.

LAND OCCUPATION:
· LAND UNDER ARMY, OWNERS WITHOUT RENT FOR 15 YRS

Apr 2:More than hundred farmers whose 800 kanals of land, including orchards, continue to be under the occupation of the army for the past 15 years in Handwara and adjoining areas have not been paid rent till date. The land owners have now asked army to pay them dues or vacate their land forthwith; they have also urged Chief Minister Omar Abdullah to intervene in the matter. 

“These cases have been cleared by my office and DC Kupwara but amount has not been released by Defence Estates department. We have also sent a copy to them,” said Abdur Rashid Shah, Tehsildar Handwara.

 The official records reveal that at Nagranar (A), Zachaldara, Badrehkali, Bona Wadder, Bagatpora, Handwara, Nagranar (B), 154, 40, 116, 23, 57, 90 and 51 kanals of land respectively is under 21 Rashtriya Rifles without the payment of any rent. Ninety, 82 and 20 kanals at Vilgam (A), Vilgam (B) and Skuji Behnipora under 6th battalion of RR have also not been paid rent from the date of possession. Same is the case with 43, 79 and 33 kanals under occupation of 33 RR and 30 RR.The land owners told media that they are running from pillar to post to get rent for their land, but of no avail.

 “We have been knocking doors of civil and army officials but they are using dilly-dally tactics. Some of the Defence Estate officials are seeking bribe in lieu of releasing money,” said Ghulam Ahmed Khan, whose 11 kanals are under army at Nagranar. Fifty year-old Muhammad Maqbool Khan, of same village, whose 12 kanals are under army occupation, burst into tears while narrating how army dislodged them from their ancestral agriculture land– main source of livelihood for his family comprising nine members. 

 “We were surprised to see one morning our land fenced by them and they didn’t allow us to enter in it from that day. They have snatched our bread and butter by acquiring it. We used to run our families by selling crops on this land before their occupation. But today we have no other source of income and our children could not study due to financial constraints,” he added.

 Ghulam Qadir Bhat, fighting for land owners of Baghatpora, said that the state government should get them rent or evacuate their prized land from army at an earliest.

 
“The CM should use his good office for this matter,” he said adding that promises of rent payment last year have proved to be hoax. Defence Estates officer Srinagar, Ajay Choudary, said he was not aware about these cases. “If they have not been paid rent then the Tehsildar would have not submitted their cases to us,” he added.

 Deputy Commissioner Kupwara said he would look into the matter.

· CRPF OCCUPATION IN BANIHAL SCHOOL FOR 16 YEARS

Apr 18: Miffed by the stubborn attitude of the state government, students of Government Higher Secondary School (HSS) Banihal are yet to see vacation of the school and hostel buildings meant for them by the security forces. This is despite the fact that state government has repeatedly claimed of getting the educational institutions occupied by the security forces vacated. It needs to be stressed that some educational institutions have been vacated in Kashmir division but many schools continue to be under the occupation of security forces across Jammu region.
In Government Higher Secondary School (HSS) Banihal, 600 students are facing acute shortage of accommodation as their three buildings which include two hostels continue to be under the occupation of security forces since the last 16 years. A government order did make a mention of November 30, 2007 being set as deadline for the security forces to vacate the building.
But it seems that government never felt the need of seeking an explanation from the officials of the security forces for not complying with the government order. Added to it is the fact that land and buildings which are in the occupation of security forces across the erstwhile district Doda are yet to be vacated by them.
The occupation of hostel buildings has multiplied the woes of students coming from far flung areas. Students of Neel,Chamalwas,Khari,Buzzla,Trana,Trigam,Ramsu,Ukhrall,Pogal-Paristan,AlinBass,Mahu-Mangit and Maligam village’s areas are living in rented accommodations at Banihal.A student Imran Wani said that most of the poor students are unable to pay rent of private accommodations.

“Having been unable to bear the expenses, a number of students left their studies midway. Most of these were girl students, “said Erum,a student of the same school, which has been occupied by CRPF.Some other said that monsoon is literally a no work period for the schools since the weather does not permit to study in open.
Principal of school, Mohammad Iqbal Khan said that accommodation is a major problem in the school. “DIG CRPF in the year 2007 assured to vacate the building occupied by the forces but nothing has happened so far, “added Khan. Opening of the degree college has further increased the pressure on the school since they are also using some of the rooms belonging to school, said the Principal.
National Conference leader Haji Sajjad Shaheen said that the issue is under the active consideration of both the education and home department who are working on the immediate shifting of security forces from the school premises.
OFFICIAL STATEMENTS

· 400 MILITANTS READY TO SNEAK INTO JK: ARMY
Apr 4: Amidst reports that 400 trained miltitants were waiting to sneak into Jammu and Kashmir to disrupt coming Lok Sabha polls, the government has ordered stepping up of security in the border state to thwart any attempt to cause violence ahead of the elections.

After a visit by Home Secretary Madhukar Gupta and Defence Secretary Vijay Singh to meet top state officials this week, the order for heightened vigil was issued, army sources said. There are intelligence inputs that 400 Lashkar-e-Toiba militants are waiting to infiltrate into Jammu and Kashmir to disrupt the polls. We have stepped up our alertness to prevent both infiltration and attacks, the sources said.
· AFSPA IS NEEDED TO PROTECT TROOPS LEGALLY: ARMY CHIEF
Apr 18: Indian Army Chief General Deepak Kapoor said that the draconian Armed Forces Special Powers Act was needed to protect troops legally.”AFSPA is needed to protect the troops legally,”Kapoor told media.Kapoor said that it was premature to talk about troop reduction in Kashmir. “This summer is crucial to decide whether troop level in Kashmir can be reduced, “he said

Jammu and Kashmir Chief Minister Omar Abdullah has sought repeal of the AFSPA and New Delhi has assured him the act will be reviewed after elections.

The army chief also asserted that troops were ready to deal with Taliban if the need arises. “Over 45 percent infiltrators are foreigners if Taliban decides to come, Indian Army is capable of tackling them. Taliban is a philosophy, it does not make them any better fighters than those of the Lashkar-e-Taiba, Jaish-e-Mohammad or Hizbul Mujahideen groups that the army has tackled so far,” said Kapoor.
· SUBSTANTIAL RISE IN INFILTRATION: ARMY CHIEF 
Apr 28: Infiltration of terrorists into Jammu and Kashmir, helped by Pakistani establishment, has risen substantially, with March recording the highest influx as compared to the corresponding month in the last seven years. Army chief Gen Deepak Kapoor said there was information about more militants preparing to infiltrate into India and that his force has "refined" the pattern of deployment to foil these attempts.

"As far as Jammu and Kashmir is concerned, infiltration has increased in March because of the elections being held there and to disrupt the electoral process in the State,” he told reporters on the sidelines of a book release function. “The figure upto March 31 says that 54 terrorists have come into Jammu and Kashmir," Gen Kapoor added.

In view of the continuing threat, he said, the Army has taken a number of steps to "refine" its techniques. “We keep refining our deployment patterns and that is exactly what we have done," the Army chief said.

TEENAGER MISSING
Apr 22: A teenager boy went missing in South Kashmir’s Islamabad district on April 13.According to the parents of Mohammad Ishaq Lone, 16, their son had left for school from his Uttroso Nazigund residence on the day. “But he did not reach to the school. Since then, his whereabouts are not known,” they said.
EXPLOSIONS

· LADY DIES IN MYSTERIOUS BLAST
Apr 10: A middle aged woman identified as Basra Begum, W/oBashir Ahmad of Challar Bhallesa presently residing in Bhaderwah died in a mysterious blast which took place from the scrap dumped in a Kitchen garden near College Link Road Bhaderwah area of Doda district. The blast occurred in front of the house situated at a distance ¼ km from the office of Assistant Superintendent of police (ASP) Bhaderwah.

ASP Bhaderwah T.R.Kotuch, SDPO Bhaderwah Abdul Qayoom, and SHO Bhaderwah Varinder Singh reached on the spot to investigate the matter. Police said that no other casualty has been reported.” Militant hand cannot be ruled out”, a police officer said, adding, police is investigating into the matter to ascertain the material that caused the blast.

Meanwhile, a police officer said,” Security forces have launched a search operation in the adjoining localities after the blast took place.”
· BOY DIES IN MYSTERIOUS BLAST
Apr 13: A teenager identified as Abdul Hamid, 15, son of Muhammad Ishaq resident of Inderkote died when a mysterious blast took place in the premises of his house at Inderkote when he was playing. Police have started investigations in this regard and registered a case at police station Sumbal.
· IED EXPLOSION ROCKS POONCH
Apr 21: Three members of a family and two Village Defence Committee members were among five killed while eight others were injured when a powerful explosion ripped through a vehicle at Surankote area in Poonch district.Udhampur based spokesman of Northern Command, Col D K Kachari told media that the explosive device planted by militants exploded near Kulali village on Old Mughal Road at Surankote when a sumo vehicle, JK12-1795, which was on way from Surankote to Mada village.

Of the 13 persons traveling in the vehicle, five died on the spot while eight others received injuries and were hospitalized. Among the dead include two VDC members Ghulam Muhammad and Muhammad Aslam.The other deceased were identified as Mohammad Ashiq (driver) son of Hakim Din, his wife Gudi and their daughter, Anisa.

DIG Poonch-Rajouri, S D Singh Jamwal said they are ascertaining the motive behind the explosion. “We are trying to ascertain the main target of the explosion,” he said.

A top army officer, pleading anonymity said that from the nature of the blast it appeared that the explosive device was planted inside the engine of the vehicle. Police officials said the Kulali village, where the blast took place is just two kms away from Hill Kaka, which has the huge presence of army.  “The route is totally manned by army personnel,” he said.

No militant outfit has owned the responsibility of the explosion.

· JAWAN INJURED IN MINE BLAST

Apr 30: An army jawan was injured in landmine blast at Gulpur in forward area of Poonch district. The injured jawan has been identified as Opinder Chand resident of Uttranchal. He was posted with 6 KUMAON regiment near Line of Control (LoC) in Poonch.

Official reports said that he inadvertently stepped over a landmine after change of his duty. He was moving from one post to another when the incident took place.
SUICIDES BY TROOPS

· ARMY MAN COMMITS SUICIDE 
Apr 6: An Army man identified as Sepoy M Kartik of 36 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) shot himself dead with his service rifle at Kokernag in South Kashmir. A case has been registered to ascertain the motive behind the suicide.

· VDC MEMBER SHOOTS SELF

Apr 17: A village Defence committee member allegedly committed suicide by shooting himself with his rifle in Reasi district of Jammu, police said.25-year-old Pawan Kumar shot himself at his house in Thakrakote village in Reasi district. The inmates of the house rushed him to hospital, where doctors declared him brought dead. Police have registered a case and started investigation into the matter.

KILLINGS IN THE MONTH OF APRIL-2009

	DATE
	SOLDIERS
	MILITANTS
	CIVILIANS
	     OTHERS

	Apr 01
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Apr 02
	-
	3
	-
	-

	Apr 03
	1
	1
	1
	-

	Apr 04
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Apr 05
	2
	1
	-
	-

	Apr 06
	1
	-
	-
	-

	Apr 07
	-
	2
	-
	-

	Apr 08
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Apr 09
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Apr 10
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Apr 11
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Apr 12
	-
	2
	-
	-

	Apr 13
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Apr 14
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Apr 15
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Apr 16
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Apr 17
	       -
	       -
	  -
	1(VDC member)

	Apr 18
	-
	3
	-
	1(Alleged OGW)

	Apr 19
	2
	3
	1
	1(Former militant)

	Apr 20
	1
	1
	1
	-

	Apr 21
	-
	-
	3
	2(VDC members)

	Apr 22
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Apr 23
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Apr 24
	-
	2
	-
	1(Former activist of NC)

	Apr 25
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Apr 26
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Apr 27
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Apr 28
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Apr 29
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Apr 30
	-
	2
	-
	-

	TOTAL
	7
	24
	9
	6

	                                                                                    IN TOTAL
	46 Killings


CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS

Apr 1: An unidentified militant was killed in an encounter with troops in Kharhama area of Kupwara district. 

Apr 2: Security forces claimed to have killed three militants of Lashkar-e-Toiba (LeT) outfit in an encounter at village Sarawan Keshwan in Kishtwar. The slain militants were identified as Mohammad Yusuf Gujjar alias Abu Maz alias Kamran, son of Alam Din of Sarwan Keshwan (Group Commander LeT), Mukhtyar Ahmed alias Faid Ullah, son of Abdul Hamid Sheikh Gulmul, Doda and Ifroz alias Taqueeb, son of Ghulam Nabi of Gurinther.Meanwhile,three militants shot at and seriously injured two brothers who were asleep in their house at Bei Nullah,about one km from Taryath under the jurisdiction of Dharamshal police station in Rajouri district. The injured were identified as Mohammad Ashraf and Mukhtiar Ahmad S/o Mohammad Din.  

Apr 3: A militant and a trooper were killed in a gun battle at Zun Reshi Chowkibal in Kupwara. The trooper has been identified as Naik Kishori Lal of 8 Grenadiers. Meanwhile, Mohammad Ashraf son of Mohammad Din, who was shot at by militants in his house on April 2, succumbed to his injuries.
Apr 4: Police claimed to have killed one militant in an ongoing encounter at Zun Reshi forests in the frontier district of Kupwara.

Apr 5: Two troopers and a militant were killed in an encounter in Maidanpora village in Lolab area of Kupwara district. The slain troopers were identified as Naik Vipin Thakur No.13622147N and PTR Kamaljeet Singh No. 1362692N.

Apr 6: An Army man identified as Sepoy M Kartik of 36 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) shot himself dead with his service rifle at Kokernag in South Kashmir. 

Apr 7: Troops claimed to have killed two militants in Maidanpora, Lolab.The slain militants were identified as Abu Mussa alias Abu Zarar and Abu Mawiya.

Apr 8: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley. 

Apr 9: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Apr 10: A middle aged woman identified as Basra Begum Wife of Bashir Ahmad of Challar Bhallesa presently residing in    Bhaderwah died in a mysterious blast which occurred in a Kitchen garden near College Link Road Bhaderwah. 
Apr 11: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Apr 12: Two militants of Jaish-e-Mohammad outfit were killed and an army officer wounded in a gunfight in Pulwama district. The slain militants have been identified as Divisional Commander of Jaish-e-Mohammad Babar Bhai of Pakistan and Aafaq Ahmad a local militant. The injured army captain has been identified as Patil

Apr 13:A teenager identified as Abdul Hamid, 15, son of Muhammad Ishaq resident of Inderkote died when a mysterious blast took place in the premises of his house at Inderkote.

Apr 14: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Apr 15: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Apr 16: A 60-yr-old woman identified as Reshma, W/o Mohammad Aslam of Dunadru area of Kellar, Shopian district was killed and her son critically injured when unidentified gunmen entered into the house of Mohammad Aslam and opened indiscriminate firing resulting in the killing of Reshma.
Apr 17: A Village Defence committee member identified as Pawan Kumar, 25, of Thakrakote, Reasi district allegedly committed suicide by shooting himself with his rifle in Reasi district of Jammu.
Apr 18: Two militants, including a self-styled commander of Lashkar-r-Toiba (LeT) outfit and a woman Over Ground Worker (OGW) were killed in Doda. The slain militants were identified as Nissar Ahmad Malik alias Shabaz, 22, son of Ghulam Haider Malik, resident of Bharat a self-styled Tehsil commander of LeT and Rafiq Gujjar alias Kuber code Abu Harir son of Ghulam Gujjar of Nagnigarh (Keshwan), while as the woman OGW has been identified as Zahida Bano, 21, daughter of Abdul Samad of Bhaggla.

Apr 19: A militant and a retired police constable were killed in an encounter in Kandi Nutnusa in frontier district of Kupwara.The slain constable has been identified as Shams-ud-Din.However,the residents of Kandi Nutnusa alleged that  Shams-ud-Din was forced to go inside the house and was used as “human shield.” Meanwhile, unidentified gunmen barged into the house of former militant, Manzoor Ahmad Sofi, at Tral Bala in South Kashmir’s Pulwama district and shot him dead. In another incident, a militant, his female associate, an SPO and a trooper were killed in a gunfight in Kastigarh forest belt of Doda district. The slain militant has been identified as Mukhtar Ahmad son of Abdul Hamid of Gurmul-Kastigarh,Dilshada daughter of Ghulam Rasool Parray of Manwas, SPO, Karan Singh and Suraj Prakash, trooper of 10-RR.

Apr 20: A Hizbul Mujahideen militant and a CRPF trooper were killed and four others including two personnel of the Special Operations Group of Jammu and Kashmir police sustained injuries in Pattan gunfight The slain militant has been identified as Abdur Rashid Beigh son of Ghulam Ahmad of Ganastan, Sumbal while the deceased trooper has been identified as Amit Kumar. Meanwhile, unidentified gunmen fired from point blank range towards a  33-year-old youth near Khar Masjid,Tral in Pulwama district. He has been identified as Manzoor Ahmad Kolie son of Ghulam Mohiuddin of Chan Mohalla, Tral.Police have registered a case and launched investigations.

Apr 21: Three members of a family and two Village Defence Committee members were among five killed while eight others were injured when a powerful explosion ripped through a vehicle at Surankote area in Poonch district. The deceased have been identified as VDC members Ghulam Muhammad and Muhammad Aslam.The other deceased were identified as Mohammad Ashiq (driver) son of Hakim Din, his wife Gudi and their daughter, Anisa. Meanwhile, two policemen were injured in an encounter between the security forces and militants in Kashiryan in the outskirts of Doda district. The injured cops were identified as Constable Javed Iqbal (number 855-D), son of Mohammad Fareed of Sawra (Gandoh) and SPO Fareed Ahmad (number 221/SPO), son of Ghulam Rasool of Kahara (Gandoh).

Apr 22: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Apr 23: Two youths were injured in police firing after clashes broke out between protesters and police as the latter tried to stop a procession in the memory of two slain militants at Baramulla. A complete shutdown was observed in Baramulla town and many parts of the district to mark the first death anniversary of two local Hizb commanders, Tanveer Khan and Imtiyaz Khan, who were killed in a fierce encounter last year with the troops at Khwaja Bagh Baramulla.

Apr 24: Police claimed to have killed two Hizbul Mujahideen militants who had recently infiltrated into Kashmir through Gurez sector at Tarzoo, Sopore. The slain militants have been identified as Mohammad Yaqoob Dar alias Zubair of Wusan, Pattan and Shaheen of Pakistan administered Kashmir. Meanwhile, unidentified gunmen shot dead a contractor and former activist of National Conference in South Kashmir’s Pulwama district. He has been identified as Abdul Sattar Ganai, 55 of Maghama, Tral. 

Apr 25: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Apr 26: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Apr 27: A foreign militant of Pakistan-based Lashkar-e-Taiba (LeT) outfit was killed by Rashtriya Rifles (RR) in an encounter near the Line of Control (LoC) at Mendhar in Poonch districts of Jammu and Kashmir. The slain militant has been identified as self-styled ‘divisional commander’ Abu Babar of Peshawar Pakistan.

Apr 28: A Hizbul Mujahideen militant was killed in a gunfight with troopers at Marmat, Doda while two paramilitary personnel were injured in a militant attack at Tral in south Kashmir. The slain militant has been identified as Muhammad Yousuf Zarar alias Haqnawaz son of Ali Mohammad of Marmat, Doda.

Apr 29:12 civilians and 9 police personnel were injured after protests broke out throughout the valley. Authorities imposed restrictions on public movement in order to thwart anti-election campaign that has been called by the pro-freedom groups.
Apr 30: Army claimed to have killed two militants including a self-styled commander of Lashkar-e-Taiba (LeT) outfit in Chinote Mohalla near Dak Bunglow in the heart of Bhaderwah town. The slain ultras were identified as Mohammad Ashraf Gojal code Abu Jahad, son of Ghulam Rasool Gojal of Upper Dandi (Bhaderwah) and Mudassar Hussain code Furkan son of Mohd Sharief of Chaka (Bhaderwah).
	INCIDENT 
	VICTIM
	AGENCY 
	PROBE ORDERED BY 
	BRIEF DETAILS OF INCIDENTS


	Results 

	Beating
	Nazir Ahmad Ganai

(Senior activist of Jammu Kashmir Right to Information Movement (JKRTI),

R/o Chadoora
	Assistant Sub Inspector of Police, Chadoora Police Station Bashir Ahmad
	On April 1:Chief Minister Omar Abdullah  ordered an inquiry into the incident
	On Jan 6-09: According to police the incident occurred when the 40-year old Abdur Rashid Reshi son of late Abdul Ahad Reshi crossed main gate of the Commander 31 Sub Area’s residence on Gupkar Road. The troopers fired several bullets at Reshi, killing him on the spot. Pertinently, the houses of many VIPs, including Chief Minister Omar Abdullah and NC president Dr Farooq Abdullah is few hundreds metres away from the spot. The Senior Superintendent of Police, Srinagar, Syed Afadul Mujtaba, confirmed the deceased was deaf and dumb.

“Preliminary investigations revealed that the person crossed the barbed wires, scaled the boundary wall and entered the Army camp. As the deceased was hard of hearing, he crossed the two gates despite being challenged. Mistaking him as a militant, the troopers fired upon him resulting in his on the spot death,” the SSP said.

 
The SSP said no weapon was recovered from the deceased. “Only a kangri was found on the spot. We have started investigation under 174 CRPC to establish the circumstances of which led to the death. We will register a case after it is established during the course of investigation that it was a custodial killing or fake encounter. At this point of time, it seems to be a case of mistaken identity,” the SSP said.

On Jan 7-09: The Army ordered a high level inquiry into the incident.
	

	Killing 

(Human shield)
	Shams-ud-Din (Retired police constable)

R/o: Kandi Nutnusa, Kupwara.
	Troopers and Ikhwanis
	Apr 20-09: Police ordered a probe to look into the allegations about the retired police constable, being used as a human shield by troopers and Ikhwanis. “We have ordered inquiry to look into the allegations,” the senior superintendent of police Kupwara, Uttam Chand, told media.

· The Deputy Commissioner, Kupwara, Showkat Ahmed said that police had taken the suo motto cognizance. “They (police) will probe the matter
	On April 19-09: Shams-ud-Din was killed in an encounter between militants and joint party of police and troopers of 47-Rashtriya Rifles. He was forced to go inside the house and was used as “human shield,” a charge denied by police and army. “The deceased was forced to enter into the house to hold negotiations with the militants. After he entered forces opened fire killing him and the lone militant holed up there,” locals told media.

Senior Superintendent of police, Kupwara, Uttam Chand, said, “These are baseless allegations. He had volunteered to go inside the house to persuade the militants to surrender, but he (militant) shot him dead. “The army’s Srinagar-based spokesman, Lt Col J S Brar, said,” Indian army doesn’t use human shields.”

                Shams-ud-Din’s son, Mohammad Ashraf told media that his father was forced by the troops to enter the house where the militants were holed up. An employee in the police department, Ashraf said, “My father was asked to persuade the holed up militants for surrender. When he refused the army officers and notorious Ikhwani Yousuf Khan who was accompanying the troops dragged and forced him to enter the house.”


Eyewitness said Shams-ud-Din after entering the main door of the house loudly called upon the militants that the army was asking them to surrender and returned back .Yousuf who was positioned at main door fired at Shams-ud-Din, one bullet hitting his abdomen and one hitting his right hand which led to his death by the time he had reached back to the main door of the house.


	Apr 20-09: According to the police sources, the personnel of the Special Operation Group of police, who forced the deceased to enter into the house, had been attached.
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PRISONER DIES IN CENTRAL JAIL


Apr 28: An inmate lodged in the Central Jail died in mysterious circumstances triggering panic in the jail. Shakeel Ahmad Salroo son of Abdul Ahad of Bonagam Shopian died in the jail on April 28, a local news agency, reported. His fellow inmates said that Shakeel started vomiting profusely after which he fell unconscious and later breathed his last. They accused the jail authorities of providing sub-standard food to them and said Shakeel died of food-poisoning.


They said that many inmates were suffering from various ailments and the jail authorities denied proper medical care to them.


Quoting jail superintendent, Muhammad Ayoub, the CNS report said, a post mortem would be conducted on the body which would then be handed over to his family. He said the prisoner had died of heart attack. The jail superintendent said that several cases were registered against him and he was a charge sheet criminal. He was brought to the jail on February 22, 2009.


The deceased’s family has demanded a probe into the matter and urged the government to investigate the circumstances which led to his death.





On December 10-1984 - the UN General Assembly has adopted the Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman, Degrading Treatment or Punishment (CAT). The CAT interprets torture as: effects of torture may include disappearance, serious injury and/or paralyses, destroyed minds, emotional scars, and a terrible form of torture for those left behind. The Rome Statute also qualifies systematic disappearances as torture.
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